
    

2013-0806 Council Meeting Minutes 
 - 1 - 

 
TOWN OF SOUTH PRAIRIE 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
TUESDAY, AUGUST 6, 2013, 7:00 PM 

South Prairie Town Hall 
121 NW Washington Street 

 
 

The following is a condensation of the proceedings and is not a verbatim transcript. 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 
Mayor Peggy Levesque called to order and presided over the Regular Council Meeting of Tuesday, August 6, 
2013, at 7:00 PM. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
Council Members:  Tony Caldwell, Jim Frank, Laura Heideman, Phil Marshall and Stu Terry were present.    
Also in attendance:  Mart Kask, Town Planner; James Morgan, Town Engineer; Joe Mills, South Prairie RV 
Park; Brenda Harter and Les Rossich, citizens; Larry Harter, Utility Operator; and Marla Nevill, Town 
Clerk/Treasurer. 

 
FLAG SALUTE: 
Mayor Peggy Levesque requested everyone stand for the “Pledge of Allegiance.” 
 
REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF AGENDA FOR AUGUST 6, 2013: 
� Councilor Jim Frank moved to approve the Agenda for August 6, 2013.   Councilor Stu Terry seconded 

the motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
ENGINEERING REPORTS: 
James Morgan – Town Engineer – On-Call Services: 
Six-Year Transportation Improvement Plan: 
James Morgan said annually in June or July, towns and counties are required to complete and submit their Six-
Year Transportation Improvement Plan (STIP) to Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT).  He 
said he assisted the Town Clerk in completing the STIP.  (See Exhibit ‘A” attached).  He said it generally roles 
over from year to year.  Discussion followed.     
 
Transportation Improvement Board (TIB) Grant Applications: 
James Morgan said TIB will be accepting Fiscal Year 2015 Grant applications until August 23, 2013.  There are 
three types of grants:  Small City Arterial Program (SCAP); Small City Pavement Preservation (SCPP); and Small 
City Sidewalk Program (SCSP).  The matching funds South Prairie would be required to provide for these grants 
are 0%.   
 
James Morgan said SR 162, Emery Avenue, Third Street, Tubbs Road and South Prairie Carbon River Road are 
the only streets in South Prairie classified as arterials.  (See Exhibit “A” attached).  He said WSDOT is 
responsible for the operation and maintenance of SR 162.  The condition of South Prairie Carbon River Road has 
not been assessed by TIB.  
 
James Morgan said there is a self-scoring guideline for Small City Pavement Preservation (SCPP) Funds.  The 
first criteria are economy of scale.  The Town may be able to receive the maximum points for these criteria by 
receiving a letter from Pierce County indicating a willingness to add the Town Streets to their annual list of 
projects.  This was done in 2012.  The Town received Small City Pavement Preservation (SCPP) Funds in 2009.  
This reduces the number of points in this category to 3 of 5.  The Town Pavement Condition Rating (PCR) is 88.  



    

2013-0806 Council Meeting Minutes 
 - 2 - 

This qualifies for 1 point out of 5.  All roads in South Prairie are rated 77 or greater; so it would be difficult to get 
grant funding.     
 
James Morgan said Emery Avenue and Third Street have sidewalks.  He said sidewalk grants are limited to 
arterial projects.  He said they’re revising some of the criteria.  The Public Works Trust Fund (PWTF) money 
planned for this year was removed from the Budget.  Discussion followed. 
 
PLANNER REPORT: 
Status of Development Plan Application Review – Dwight Partin Applicant (Relocating 93 RV sites at the 
South Prairie RV Park – 606 Highway 162, South Prairie, to accommodate the Pierce County’s Foothills 
Trail) (See Exhibit “B” attached): 
 
Mayor Peggy Levesque introduced Joe Mills who is working with the South Prairie RV Park.  Joe Mills said he 
is basically here to listen and discuss the letter that was sent from the RV Park.  (See Exhibit “C” attached). 
 
Mart Kask said there are two differences with the applicant at the moment.  Our review requires applicant to 
show how area would be serviced for water, sewer and fireflow; and show adequate spacing for the RVs.  (See 
Exhibit “B” attached).  Mart Kask said these are the kinds of details we need to look at.  How would they treat 
surface water management?  And, it is entirely possible that Washington Department of Ecology (WDOE) and the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) would require them to obtain a Stormwater Application Permit.  He said 
South Prairie Creek is the home to several endangered species; and we have to ensure that the water quality is not 
degraded.  He said that is what we’re looking for in the application.  The applicant says it is not necessary and the 
information is already in the concept plan and Resolution No. 151.  That’s an issue that needs to be settled.  
Discussion followed regarding a court case in Kirkland.  Mart Kask said at this point we have not seen this; and 
we would like a copy of that document to forward to the Town Attorney for review.  The Town’s argument is that 
the Environmental Checklist on their Concept Plan does not cover a specific project.  Is there adequate fireflow 
and is there a copy of the Environmental Checklist for their Concept Plan?  This kind of detail was not present in 
their Concept Plan.  This is an issue they’re siting that the Mayor would determine whether to send this on to the 
attorney or the information is adequate for the Council to make a decision.  James Morgan said their issue is not 
on the engineering detail.  Mart Kask said the engineering aspects are in there.  Joe Mills said the problem we 
have is being required to go back and do a SEPA (State Environmental Policy Act) Checklist.  We’re not 
disputing the engineering detail.  Our issue is that we are required to do a new SEPA.  From a stormwater 
standpoint, we have the same number of RV sites and we are moving them further from the creek.  We are not 
trying to increase capacity; just move them within the same footprint.  Discussion followed.  Councilor James 
Frank said the original plan was a Concept Plan.  In the building department, if you change the plan, you have to 
revisit this issue.  Now that the Trail is going through, I don’t think the Concept Plan is now the same.  Joe Mills 
said what I’ve been told is the Town does not…  Councilor Jim Frank said he would think that Dwight would 
have the burden of proof.  Joe Mills said it would be the burden of the Town to show the site plan.  Councilor 
Jim Frank said Dwight would have the burden of submitting the Plan.  Joe Mills said it hasn’t been completed.  
He’s moving sites from here to here.  Discussion followed.  Joe Mills said with regard to the spacing on the RVs, 
the Town still does not have a standard.  Discussion followed.  Councilor Jim Frank said he doesn’t know why 
the Town would be required to supply burden of proof.  Joe Mills said they would probably have to go back to 
square one.  Discussion followed. 
 
Global Equipment Services – Development on Tax Lots 0619182044, 0619186010 and 06191860009: 
Mart Kask said he has looked at Global Equipment Services vacant lot on NW Washington Street.  He said the 
lot was purchased and they’re using it as a parking lot.  (See Exhibit “D” attached).  He said the zoning is 
Residential and cannot be used as a parking lot and is in violation of the Code.  They have not come to the Town 
Council and obtained prior approval for use.  They have never requested a permit.  The area is 43,000 square feet.  
If it exceeds 5,000 square feet, they have to apply for surface water management.  Where is the runoff going?  He 
said the Code is very clear for Commercial or Industrial use.  They have not installed the landscaping buffer zone, 



    

2013-0806 Council Meeting Minutes 
 - 3 - 

which was part of the site plan.  One condition of approval was the easement.  The plan showed ten feet and the 
Council requested it be changed to fifteen feet.  Currently the lot being used for parking has not been brought to 
the Council.  Councilor Tony Caldwell asked if it had been red-tagged.  Mart Kask said he recommends that the 
Town look at these issues and notify them of what needs to be done.  He said the letter was sent to Marla with the 
pictures.  Councilor Jim Frank asked when that would be sent.  Marla Nevill said it would be sent out this 
week.  Discussion followed.        
 
Comprehensive Plan Update – Grant Application: 
Mart Kask said the State Department of Commerce has been affected by the State Budget crunch.  For the past 
two to three years they’ve extended the deadline to update our Comprehensive Plan.  South Prairie must update 
their Comprehensive Plan by 2015.  The State has offered grants for $10,000.  The Mayor asked that I prepare the 
grant application and get Council approval to submit the application.  (See Exhibit “E” attached).  Discussion 
followed. 
� Councilor Tony Caldwell moved to authorize Mart Kask to prepare and submit the grant application to the 

Department of Commerce to update the South Prairie Comprehensive Plan.  Councilor Stu Terry seconded 
the motion.  Motion carried unanimously.  

 
APPROVAL OF REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING/PUBLIC HEARING MINUTES OF JULY 2, 2013: 
� Councilor Laura Heideman moved to approve the Regular Council Meeting/Public Hearing Minutes of July 

2, 2013.  Councilor Jim Frank seconded the motion.  Discussion followed.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
APPROVAL OF BILLS FOR JULY 2013, IN THE AMOUNT OF $31,616.34: 
� Councilor Tony Caldwell moved to approve the bills for July 2013, in the amount of $31,616.34 (thirty-one 

thousand six hundred sixteen dollars and thirty-four cents).  Councilor Phil Marshall seconded the motion.  
Councilor Tony Caldwell requested warrant #15907 in the amount of $13.85 to Tony Caldwell be pulled as 
it is not correct.  Discussion followed.  Councilor Tony Caldwell moved to amend his motion to approve the 
Bills for July 2013 in the corrected amount of $31,602.49 (thirty-one thousand six hundred two dollars and 
forty-nine cents).  Warrant # 15907 in the amount of $13.85 is voided.  Councilor Phil Marshall seconded 
the amended motion. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
None 
 
NEW BUSINESS:    
1) Ordinance No. 532 – Adopting New Provisions for the Town Related to Animal Control: 

Tabled until the September 3, 2013 Council Meeting 
 
2) Ordinance No. 537 – Adopting New Provisions Related to Vehicle and Traffic:  

Tabled until the September 3, 2013 Council Meeting 
 
3) Animal Control Services Agreement with Pierce County: 

Tabled until the September 3, 2013 Council Meeting 
 

4) Council Authorization to pay one-half of a sewer study in the amount of $7500 (Town’s share - $3750) 
for possible transfer of water and sewer utilities to Valley Water District: 

� Councilor Jim Frank moved to pay one-half of the cost for a sewer study in the amount of $7500 (Town’s 
share - $3750) for possible transfer of water and sewer utilities to Valley Water District.  Councilor Laura 
Heideman seconded the motion.  James Morgan said the Valley Water District Board of Commissioners 
still has concerns about taking over the wastewater side of the utilities.  They did this on a couple of systems 
they took over.  There might be some benefit to the Town; and you would know where improvements are 
needed.  They want to have a good feel of what is going on with the sewer system.  Mayor Peggy Levesque 



    

2013-0806 Council Meeting Minutes 
 - 4 - 

said Valley Water District needs to feel comfortable about moving forward.  James Morgan said if nothing 
else, you would have the information to move forward with preparing a Sewer Comp Plan.  Councilor Stu 
Terry said isn’t this just showing the status of what we have?  James Morgan said Chuck Hoffman from 
Department of Ecology (DOE) said we’re operating in the parameters where we need to be.  Councilor 
Laura Heideman said this is really just considered Loss Mitigation.  Discussion followed.  Councilor Jim 
Frank said the cost of $3750 is really not that far out of line.  James Morgan said he believes he has given 
Valley Water District enough information on the water side.  Last he heard the biggest concerns were with the 
sewer system.  He said this is an opportunity for a win/win for both parties.  Councilor Stu Terry asked what 
would a new pump cost for the well?  James Morgan said it would cost $10,000 - $15,000.  Councilor Stu 
Terry said they’re having concerns with the sewer system.  James Morgan said they do not have a detailed 
study.  Larry Harter said the pumps pump 50 gallons per minute and there are six of them.  Councilor Stu 
Terry said the reason I ask is we have $174,000; so why are they apprehensive about the scenario.  
Discussion followed.  Councilor Tony Caldwell said that number has to be negotiated.  We have to look at 
the whole picture.  Mayor Peggy Levesque said she did not think it was a bad idea to do the sewer study.  
Councilor Stu Terry said if I’m buying a car from you, why do I have to pay for a study?  Discussion 
followed.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
5) Council Authorization to File a Foreclosure Action for Past Due Utilities on property located at 206 

Emery Avenue South (Balance owed on Account as of 6/30/2013 is $10,783.94): 
� Councilor Laura Heideman moved to authorize filing Foreclosure Action for past due utilities on property 

located at 206 Emery Avenue South (balance owed on account as of 6/30/2013 is $10,783.94).  Councilor 
Stu Terry seconded the motion.  Discussion followed.  Motion carried unanimously.   

 
6) Carbon River Forum – Memorandum of Understanding (MOU): 
� Councilor Jim Frank moved to approve the Carbon River Forum, Memorandum of Understanding (MOU).   

Councilor Phil Marshall seconded the motion.  Discussion followed.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
7) Request Detailed Estimates of Revenues and Expenditures for Next Fiscal Year: 

Marla Nevill requested a list of detailed estimates of revenues and expenditures for the next fiscal year from 
the Mayor, Council and the Utility Operator for the September Council meeting.  Discussion followed. 

 
CITIZENS’ COMMENTS: 
Les Rossich introduced himself and said he is running for Council Position #3.  He said it’s time to do his civic 
duty.  Discussion followed.   
 
MAYOR’S REPORT: 
Mayor Peggy Levesque read into record her “Letter of Resignation” and said August 20, 2013 would be her last 
day.  (See Exhibit “F” attached).  She said the hardest thing to deal with is the bureaucracy.  Discussion followed.  
Mayor Peggy Levesque said the legislature needs to be reminded of the impacts to smaller municipalities when 
they are passing legislation.  Councilor Jim Frank said thank you for all of your efforts.  Discussion followed.   
 
PUBLIC WORKS’ REPORT: 
None 
 
CLERK’S REPORT: 
Marla Nevill requested a committee to review and award the Bid for the Arborist and Tree Trimming Projects.  
Councilor Stu Terry and Councilor Tony Caldwell volunteered to be on the committee. 
 
Councilor Tony Caldwell requested that a letter be sent to Sarah Lukas, WDOE, for a status of the Shoreline 
Master Program update that the Town submitted back in November 2012.  Discussion followed.  Marla Nevill 
said she would send out that letter. 



    

2013-0806 Council Meeting Minutes 
 - 5 - 

 
Mayor Peggy Levesque said the Town really needs to look into purchasing a program that records and 
transcribes the minutes.  James Morgan suggested checking into Dragon software.  Discussion followed.  It was 
recommended that Marla Nevill check into this program along with microphones.     
 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS REPORT: 
Councilor Jim Frank said there are a lot of junk cars in town and we need to enforce.  Mayor Peggy Levesque 
said it might be time to do a “sweep” again.  Discussion followed.  Mart Kask said the junk cars are almost 
impossible to get licensed.  They have to be travel-worthy and have to be driven to the Department of Licensing.  
He said junk vehicles have to be moved to the owner’s back yard so they are not visible from the road.  Mayor 
Peggy Levesque asked Mart Kask to let them know what would be involved with the next “sweep”.  Discussion 
followed.  Councilor Stu Terry said why would we want to lay a blanket over a problem?  Why couldn’t we 
address each complaint as it is received?  Mart Kask said if it comes from a citizen and you have to address the 
issue, the Council has the option to move it to a broader scale.  Discussion followed.  Councilor Jim Frank said 
it should be on a case by case basis.  James Morgan said other jurisdictions address these issues by doing a 
“sweep”; but again you do not have the manpower.  Discussion followed. 
 
Councilor Stu Terry said we had previously discussed installing power switches to pump out the STEP tanks 
during power outages.  Mayor Peggy Levesque said we were looking into grant funding.  Councilor Stu Terry 
said once Valley Water District takes over would they make those installations?  Discussion followed.   
 
Councilor Tony Caldwell said Shearer and Associates are coming back and will donate a load of gravel for the 
wellhead area.  He said they requested a letter of recommendation; and he prepared that letter.  Discussion 
followed. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 

� At 8:45 PM, Councilor Laura Heideman moved to adjourn the Regular Council Meeting of 
August 6, 2013.  Councilor Phil Marshall seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
 
 
 

Date Approved:  September 3, 2013  

 


